STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Union County

Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
STEPHEN DOUGLAS BERRY,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001092

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

FEB 26 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the PCR judge err in finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to preserve her meritorious objections to the state's expert witness where trial counsel made numerous objections after significant amounts of objectionable testimony were presented before the jury, counsel's objections were sustained, and counsel failed to move to strike, ask for a curative instruction, or move for a mistrial, and therefore this Court found that these objections were not preserved for appellate review?

2.

Did the PCR judge err in finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to properly raise trial counsel's objection to the state's expert not being qualified to diagnose the alleged victim with post-traumatic stress disorder where this Court held that appellate counsel made a different argument on appeal than that which was argued below and therefore found the issue procedurally barred?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted in July of 2012 by the Union County grand jury for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. App. 969. On February 5, 2013, his case was called to trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III and a jury. App. 1. Petitioner was represented by Erik Delaney and Melissa Inzerillo. The state was represented by John C. Anthony. App. 1.

Petitioner was the youth pastor at New Life Baptist Church where Minor<sup>1</sup> was a member. App. 102, ll. 10 – 24. Minor was close friends with one of Petitioner's daughters. App. 103, l. 22 – 104, l. 10. Minor accused Petitioner of digitally penetrating her on several different occasions while she was a member of his church. App. 111, ll. 4 – 23; app. 116, ll. 9 – 17; app. 118, ll. 7 – 19; app. 120, ll. 5 – 15.

Minor also accused Petitioner of engaging in nonconsensual sexual intercourse with her on one occasion; specifically claiming that Petitioner raped her in front of two of Petitioner's own daughters, neither of whom corroborated Minor's accusations. App. 126, l. 3 – 130, l. 12; app. 530, l. 6 – 533, l. 7. Nancy Henderson, the pediatrician who performed a physical exam on Minor after she claimed to have been sexually assaulted, found that Minor's hymen was fully intact. App. App. 564, l. 25 – 570, l. 10. Minor claimed that the digital penetration continued to occur once a week for over a year. App. 121, l. 25 – 122, l. 18. Petitioner was found guilty as charged. App. 645 – 646. The judge sentenced him to fifteen years imprisonment. App. 654.

On direct appeal, Petitioner was represented by League Creech. Petitioner raised the following issues in his appeal:

---

<sup>1</sup> Minor was fifteen at the time that the majority of the alleged conduct occurred. Minor claimed that the alleged conduct continued after her sixteenth birthday, which was the listed end date in the indictment against Petitioner. App. 100, l. 23 – 101, l. 1; app. 969 – 970.

1. Did the trial court err in allowing the victim to testify regarding alleged other acts which exceeded the scope of the indictment and which were not criminal in nature; and
2. Did the trial court err in failing to suppress two inadmissible aspects of the state's expert's testimony?

App. 660. The Court of Appeals affirmed. State v. Berry, 413 S.C. 118, 775 S.E.2d 51 (Ct. App. 2015); App. 712. Appellate counsel Creech filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on November 20, 2015. App. 724 – 740. Appellate counsel then filed a petition for a writ of certiorari on January 11, 2016. App. 742. This Court granted the petition and affirmed the Court of Appeals as modified. State v. Berry, 418 S.C. 500, 795 S.E.2d 26 (2016); App. 786.

Petitioner filed his PCR application on June 30, 2017 and the state filed its Return and partial motion to dismiss on October 6, 2017. App. 790 – 826. An evidentiary hearing was held on February 1, 2019 before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo. App. 827. Petitioner was represented by Leah Moody and the state was represented by Janell Gregory. App. 827. Testifying at the hearing were Petitioner, both of his trial attorneys and his appellate counsel. App. 828. The PCR judge denied Petitioner's application for relief. App. 951 – 967.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR judge erred in finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to preserve her meritorious objections to the state's expert witness because trial counsel made numerous objections after significant amounts of objectionable testimony were presented before the jury, counsel's objections were sustained, and counsel failed to move to strike, ask for a curative instruction, or move for a mistrial, and therefore this Court found that these objections were not preserved for appellate review.

### **Relevant Facts**

The state called Kimberly Roseborough, who was qualified as an expert in the field of "child sexual abuse assessment and treatment." App. 444, l. 18 – 449, l. 13. Roseborough testified that she personally counseled Minor and her family from 2005 until 2007 while Minor's parents were getting divorced. App. 449, l. 15 – 450, l. 6. Minor's father had sole custody of her, and her mother only had weekend visitations. App. 181, l. 19 – 182, l. 16. Roseborough began counseling Minor again in 2010 regarding Minor's mother attempting to re-establish visitation pursuant to a family court order. App. 450, l. 19 – 451, l. 6. During this time period, Roseborough would meet with Minor once or twice a month. App. 452, ll. 2 – 6.

After Minor made the initial allegations against Petitioner, Roseborough recalled:

In March of 2011, there was a police report where Minor disclosed sexual abuse and at that point I was still working with the family around the visitation issues and I also began to see Minor some individually that was more specifically related to the sexual abuse allegations even though I did continue to work with the family and the other child with mom's visitation.

App. 452, ll. 10 – 16. Minor allegedly told Roseborough that she began being sexually abused in “May or June of 2010” and it continued “until several weeks prior to her making the police report.” App. 452, l. 22 – 453, l. 6.

The assistant solicitor asked Roseborough what observations she made about Minor’s demeanor during her counseling sessions regarding the allegations of sexual abuse. Roseborough answered:

Over time, and I did see [Minor] for some time after that, I noticed several things about her demeanor, including many symptoms that related to trauma. She was very avoidant. Many times of trying – of me trying to talk to her about what happened she became increasing[ly] more agitated and depressed. She became more angry. She had a lot of feelings of guilt and hopelessness and was very hyper-vigilant, very easily startled in my office and was very emotionally distressed and that progressed and got worse over time after the disclosure was made.

App. 453, l. 12 – 454, l. 1. The solicitor then asked Roseborough whether “the circumstances of [Minor’s] disclosure” were “consistent with the disclosure of sexual abuse.” App. 454, ll. 2 – 5. Defense counsel immediately objected, and the jury was sent out. App. 454, ll. 6 – 8.

Outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel objected to Roseborough testifying to Minor’s demeanor being consistent or inconsistent with sexual abuse because it amounted to a comment on her credibility which violated State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). App. 454, l. 11 – 456, l. 15. The assistant solicitor responded that Kromah dealt with the interviewer making a “compelling finding” which was distinguishable from his question regarding consistency or inconsistency with sexual abuse. App. 458, ll. 13 – 19. The court sustained defense counsel’s objection. App. 458, l. 20 – 459, l. 8.

When the jury returned to the courtroom the assistant solicitor began questioning Roseborough about delayed disclosure. Roseborough was asked how common delayed disclosure was and the following occurred:

It is incredibly common. With incestuous cases, it happens quite a lot. As I said, it's one of the major tenants of the Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome because it happens so often. You have to remember we're not talking about a stranger rape and even those don't get reported as we all know that those numbers are incredibly low based on what actually occurs. But for many reasons people don't report that and these kinds of sexual abuse cases, they have the person who is the perpetrator has spent time grooming the child, getting the child to accept the behavior –

[Defense counsel]: Objection, Your Honor.

The Court: I sustain the objection.

App. 461, l. 24 – 462, l. 12. After this, the assistant solicitor asked specifically about Roseborough's experience with Minor and asked if Roseborough could identify specific factors in Minor's situation that could have led to her delaying disclosure. Roseborough answered:

Well, there were several. One was because she didn't think anybody would believe her. That was the first one. That she didn't believe that people would believe who this person was, was actually abusing her. One of the major ones that she –

[Defense counsel]: Your Honor, I'm going to object.

The Court: I sustain the objection.

App. 463, ll. 9 – 20. The jury was then sent out of the courtroom and the assistant solicitor argued: "I don't think there is any prohibition on her explaining factors she observed in [Minor's] situation that would be consistent with her delaying her report." App. 463, l. 22 – 464, l. 3. After further argument on the issue the trial judge again sustained the objection. App. 464, l. 4 – 465, l. 5. However, the trial judge ruled that the assistant solicitor would be allowed to

“ask questions about typical responses that may cause delayed reporting,” but would not be allowed to use the word “consistent.” App. 469, l. 3 – 472, l. 8.

When the jury returned to the courtroom, the following exchange took place:

KIM ROSBOROUGH BY SOLICITOR ANTHONY

Q. Ms. Roseborough, I’m gonna [sic] back up just a little bit and try to move forward.

You were testifying about delayed disclosures with child abuse.

A. Yes.

Q. And could you tell the jury if there are any typical factors that might lead a child to delayed disclosing?

A. Yes. What might have a child have delayed disclosure would be things like not believing that someone would believe him or her. A lot of times they, when we interview children or talk to kids after a disclosure has been made, they will say that they did not believe anyone would believe them either because of the content of their disclosure or because of who the perpetrator was.

A lot of times the perpetrator may be someone that they know through other ways and that other people know and would not believe on the surface that, that could be true so that would be a reason that they might not would tell. Other reasons for delayed disclosure center around the fear of the unknow[n], what is going to happen next.

A lot of kids, especially teenagers, are savvy enough to understand that there might be police involvement, a police report. There might be court. They would have to make their statement to numerous people. That they would have to be talked to and interviewed by professionals. And when you think that people wouldn’t believe you, that’s a really hard thing to do.

If the perpetrator is someone that other people know or is involved with your family, you are also very or maybe concerned about what is going to happen to that person or how people are going to react if you say that is the person offended against you. In some cases that I’ve worked on, there may be freindships involved in these kinds of situations. There may be – they may have friends that are involved with that family or with that offender that they

may not want to put that family through, and their family through, what they know what might happen if they make a disclosure.

Q. And based on your work with Minor are any of those typical factors present in her situation?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. And which factors are present?

A. Well, there are numerous factors present. The first one was that not being believed because of the position –

[Defense counsel]: *Your Honor, I [am] going to object.*

The Court: *Yeah. I sustain the objection.*

BY SOLICITOR ANTHONY:

Q. Okay. The first factor is not being believed. What else? Without going into the reason why she might not be believed, what else would – well, insofar as she might not be believed, without specifically saying what would be pertinent to [Minor's] case, what factors might a child consider in delaying a disclosure because of a fear of not being believed?

A. If they felt like their disclosure was going to hurt someone that they really cared about or were very close to.

Q. And then aside from the fear of not being believed, what other typical factors were present in [Minor's] case that might lead to a delayed disclosure?

A. That she was afraid that it would hurt her friendship.

[Defense counsel]: *Objection, Your Honor.*

The Court: *Yeah. I sustain the objection.  
Disregard that question and answer.*

BY SOLICITOR ANTHONY:

Q. Would that be a typical factor?

A. That their disclosure might hurt someone? Absolutely.

Q. And what else was present in regards to her?

A. Generally threats and being told to not tell, to keeping it a secret.

[Defense counsel]: *Your Honor, I'm going to object. I believe those questions –*

The Court: *I sustain the objection. I thought we were going to keep it as to typical; not specific.*

Solicitor Anthony: Well, -

The Court: *Well I've ruled.*

Solicitor Anthony: Okay. I'm sorry.

App. 472, l. 14 – 475, l. 14 (emphasis added).

On direct appeal, Petitioner's appellate counsel argued that the trial court erred in admitting Roseborough's testimony because it was improper bolstering and violated the holding of State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). App. 666 – 670.

The Court of Appeals found that Petitioner's direct appeal arguments were preserved because the grounds for trial counsel's objection was apparent from the context. State v. Berry, 413 S.C. 118, 775 S.E.2d 51 (Ct. App. 2015); App. 712 – 723. The Court of Appeals then relied on State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999) in holding that the trial court did not err because "Roseborough's testimony did not impermissibly vouch for or bolster [Minor's] testimony." State v. Berry, 413 S.C. 118, 130, 775 S.E.2d 51, 57 (Ct. App. 2015).

This Court, however, found that trial counsel's objection to Roseborough's testimony did not preserve the issue, therefore it was not properly before the Court of Appeals. State v. Berry, 418 S.C. 500, 795 S.E.2d 26 (2016); App. 786 – 789. This Court considered Roseborough's testimony as consisting of three distinct parts: (1) the demeanor of the Minor, (2) the

explanations given regarding delayed disclosure, and, (3) the testimony regarding Minor's supposed suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder. Id. at 502, 795 S.E.2d at 27. Because trial counsel's objections to the testimony regarding Minor's demeanor and delayed disclosure were sustained, and trial counsel did not move to strike, request a curative instruction, or for a mistrial, this Court found that trial counsel's objection was unpreserved. Id. at 504, 795 S.E.2d at 28.

At Petitioner's PCR hearing, trial counsel acknowledged that she failed to move for a mistrial, curative instruction, or to strike any of Roseborough's testimony after her objections were sustained. App. 899, ll. 21 – 24. Counsel said that she generally would not move to strike because she did not want to highlight the testimony to the jury. App. 899, l. 25 – 900, l. 8. Counsel stubbornly stated: "I was under the belief and sort of still am that the objections were sufficient to preserve it for the record." App. 900, ll. 9 – 10. Counsel admitted, however, that her failure to move to strike resulted in this Court finding the issue unpreserved and that she would "probably" start moving to strike in the future as a result of this Court's opinion in Petitioner's direct appeal. App. 906, ll. 3 – 25.

The PCR judge found that trial counsel was not deficient because she "attempted to preserve the issues regarding Roseborough's testimony for appeal by objecting contemporaneously to Roseborough's testimony and renewed her objections at the close of the State's case." App. 959. The judge further found that trial counsel gave a valid strategic reason when she claimed that she did not move to strike because she did not want to highlight the testimony to the jury. App. 959. Additionally, the judge found that Petitioner failed to show prejudice because the Court of Appeals ruled against Petitioner on the merits of this issue and he

did not show that this Court would have reached a different conclusion even if trial counsel's objections had been preserved for appellate review. App. 959.

### **Discussion**

The PCR judge erred in finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to adequately preserve her meritorious objections for appellate review. In order to prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must show that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient," meaning that it fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668.

"Appellate courts have recognized that an issue will not be preserved for review where the trial court sustains a party's objection to improper testimony and the party does not subsequently move to strike the testimony or for a mistrial." State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 583, 698 S.E.2d 862, 864 (Ct. App. 2010) (internal emphasis omitted). The reasoning for this rule is

that when a party's objection has been sustained, he has received what he asked for, and without a motion to strike or for a mistrial he cannot complain on appeal. Id.

“Moreover, as the law assumes a curative instruction will remedy an error, failure to accept such a charge when offered, or failure to object to the sufficiency of that charge, renders the issue waived and unpreserved for appellate review.” Wilson, 389 S.C. at 583, 698 S.E.2d at 864; see also State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 511, 476 S.E.2d 903, 912 (1996) (holding that defense counsel's objection to improper cross-examination of a defense witness was not preserved for review when the objection was sustained, counsel's motion for a mistrial was denied, but counsel did not object to the trial judge's curative instruction); State v. Penland, 275 S.C. 537, 538-539, 273 S.E.2d 765, 766 (1981) (holding that defense counsel's sustained objection to solicitor's improper closing argument was not preserved for appellate review when counsel did not contemporaneously move for a mistrial and did not object to the trial judge's curative instruction); State v. Harry, 321 S.C. 273, 280-281, 468 S.E.2d 76, 80-81 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding that defense counsel's objection to solicitor's closing argument was not preserved for review because counsel did not move to strike the argument); State v. Moyd, 321 S.C. 256, 468 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding that defense counsel's sustained objection to prejudicial testimony was not persevered for appellate review because he did not object to the curative instruction).

In this case, trial counsel's objections to Roseborough's testimony, based on improper bolstering under Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), were sustained. However, as seen, the assistant solicitor continued to elicit improper testimony from Roseborough on multiple occasions after the initial sustained objection. Each time when trial counsel objected, her objection was sustained. The problem however was that immediately preceding each of

counsel's objections, significant improper testimony was introduced before the jury. Therefore, it was imperative for counsel to have moved to strike the improper testimony, requested a curative instruction or moved for a mistrial.

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