THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO UNION COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Trial Judge
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019 – 001092

STEPHEN DOUGLAS BERRY, # 188112,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 104114
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

Aug 03 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court properly found Trial Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to preserve her meritorious objections to the state's expert witness because Trial Counsel provided a valid trial strategy for why she did not move to strike the objectionable testimony, and Petitioner failed to show that had the issue been preserved it would be meritorious.**

On appeal, Petitioner claims the PCR court erred in finding that Melissa Inzerillo (Trial Counsel) was not ineffective for failing to preserve her meritorious objections to the State's expert witness because Trial Counsel made numerous objections after significant amounts of objectionable testimony were presented before the jury, counsel's objections were sustained, and counsel failed to move to strike, ask for a curative instruction, or move for a mistrial, and therefore this Court found that these objections were not preserved for appellate review. However, the PCR court properly found Trial Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective because she articulated a reasonably valid trial strategy to explain why she did not move to strike, ask for a curative instruction, or move for a mistrial and that Petitioner failed to show that had the issue been preserved it would be meritorious. This factual finding is supported by ample evidence of probative value and is not controlled by an error of law. Therefore, the PCR courts finding should be upheld and this Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Lomax v. State*, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his post-conviction relief action, and when alleging that Trial Counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668. First, an applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.*; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." *Id.* (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668.

Moreover, *Strickland* does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, *Strickland* requires the post-conviction relief applicant to prove "counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the

‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” *Id.* at 697. Therefore, the function of the post-conviction relief court is to determine if “in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professional competent assistance” required of a criminal defense attorney.” *Id.* at 690.

Here, Petitioner claims that Trial Counsel was constitutionally deficient because she failed to preserve issues for appeal. Specifically, Petitioner argues Trial Counsel failed to move for a corrective instruction, which left the issues raised based on *State v. Kromah* unpreserved. 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). However, the PCR court properly denied relief, finding Trial Counsel was not constitutionally deficient because she articulated a reasonable and valid strategic reason for not requesting a curative instruction.

Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. “No particular set of detailed rules for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant.” *Strickland* at 688-89. “Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.” *Id.* at 691. Therefore, “[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential.” *Id.* at 689. *Strickland* therefore established the rule that in proving a claim of ineffectiveness, “the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’” *Id.*

Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel’s performance should not be found ineffective. *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); *Underwood v. State*, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where

counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not effective assistance of counsel.” *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

At the PCR hearing, Trial counsel testified she objected to Roseborough’s testimony pursuant to *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), because she initially felt that the State wanted to use her testimony to bolster and to essentially corroborate what the victim had testified to. (App. 898). Trial counsel testified that after her objection, Judge Hayes stepped off the bench so he and the solicitor could read the *Kromah* opinion because it was decided about two weeks prior to Petitioner’s trial. (App. 899). Trial Counsel testified she, the solicitor, and Judge Hayes had to “pick through what the case meant” because it was not nearly as well developed as it is now. Trial Counsel explained that ultimately, in synthesizing the case on the spot, Judge Hayes ruled that Ms. Roseborough could testify as to things that were “typical” behaviors but not behaviors that were “consistent”. (App. 899). Trial counsel testified she continued to object, but did not move to strike because the defense team was “trying very hard to limit what the [witness] could get into.” (App. 900). Trial counsel testified she felt her use of *Kromah* and the objections “gutted the State’s use of that witness” because it limited Roseborough’s testimony and prevented her from testifying in a way that validated or bolstered the victim. (App. 907).

The PCR court found Petitioner failed to establish how Trial Counsel was constitutionally deficient because Trial Counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for not moving to strike or move for a mistrial. *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). Trial counsel testified she continued to object, but did not move to strike because the strategy of the defense team was “trying very hard to limit what the [witness] could get into.” (App. 900). Trial counsel testified she felt her use of *Kromah* and the objections “gutted the State’s use of that witness” because it limited Roseborough’s testimony. (App. 907). The PCR court found this trial strategy valid. This

finding is supported by ample evidence of probative value and not controlled by an error of law; therefore, this finding should be upheld.

Further, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to establish any resulting prejudice from the alleged deficiency. Although Petitioner testified he believed the outcome of his case would have been different had Trial Counsel preserved her objections for appellate review, Petitioner failed to show that the claim regarding Roseborough's testimony was meritorious.

This Court previously held an issue that was raised on direct appeal but found to be unpreserved may be raised in the context of a post-conviction relief claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. *McHam v. State*, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing *McLaughlin v. State*, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003); *Foye v. State*, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999)). However, to be entitled to relief on such a claim, an applicant must establish the underlying claim is meritorious and would have resulted in a reversal on appeal to a reasonable probability. *McHam*, 404 S.C. at 475–76, 746 S.E.2d at 47 (“Since the Fourth Amendment issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong in *McHam*'s PCR claim.”) (citing *Sikes v. State*, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) (“When the defendant claims that counsel's failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, [the] defendant must show that such claim is **meritorious** and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded.” (emphasis in *McHam*))). Therefore, before a post-conviction relief court can find an applicant has prevailed on a claim of ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failing to preserve a ground for appellate review, the court must determine the underlying claim was meritorious and a reasonable probability that it would have resulted in reversal and a new trial.

On the merits of the behavioral testimony issue, the courts of this state have examined behavioral testimony in several cases. Initially in *State v. Hudnall*, 293 S.C. 97, 359 S.E.2d 59 (1987), this Court held expert testimony regarding common behavioral characteristics exhibited by child victims of sexual abuse was not admissible to establish abuse had occurred. The Court held this evidence admissible only to rebut a defense claim that the victim's response was inconsistent with such a trauma. *Id.* at 100-101, 359 S.E.2d at 61. This Court joined the majority of other jurisdictions in *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991), holding trauma testimony of a rape victim is relevant to prove the elements of criminal sexual conduct since such evidence makes it more or less probable that the offense occurred.

In *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993), this Court considered expert testimony regarding rape trauma syndrome. The expert testified to characteristics commonly found in sexual assault victims. *Id.* at 505, 435 S.E.2d at 861. The Supreme Court overturned its holding in *Hudnall*, and specifically found: “both expert testimony and behavioral evidence are admissible as rape trauma evidence to prove a sexual offense occurred where the probative value of such evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.”

The Court of Appeals had an opportunity to address similar behavior testimony in *State v. Weaverling*, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999). In *Weaverling*, an expert testified regarding behavior and characteristics of a sexually abused victim. The Court stated: “Expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts is admissible.” *Id.* at 474-475, 523 S.E.2d at 794 (citing *Frenzel v. State*, 849 P.2d 741 (Wyo.1993); *State v. Lujan*, 192 Ariz. 448, 967 P.2d 123 (1998) (opinion testimony describing behavioral characteristics outside jurors’ common

experience is permitted as long as it meets other admissibility requirements)). The Court explained:

Such testimony is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault. *Frenzel, supra*. It assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of the behavior of victims and provides insight into the sexually abused child's often strange demeanor. *Id. See also Lujan, supra* (when facts of case raise questions of credibility or accuracy that might not be explained by experiences common to jurors—like reactions of child victims of sexual abuse—expert testimony on general behavioral characteristics of such victims should be admitted).

Id. at 475, 523 S.E.2d at 794.

The testimony by Roseborough merely explained the common behaviors and characteristics of a trauma victim and in particular a sexual trauma victim. Such testimony is clearly proper under *Schumpert* and *Weaverling*. Her further testimony regarding behaviors **she witnessed** in the victim was also proper testimony as it was based on her **personal observations**. The Roseborough's concern that resulted from the behaviors is well within the gambit of *Schumpert* and is not impermissible. As a result, Roseborough's testimony was properly admitted.

In addressing Petitioner's argument that Roseborough's testimony constituted vouching or bolstering and was a violation of *Kromah*, the Court of Appeals held Roseborough's testimony did not violate the dictates of *Kromah* because it did not impermissibly vouch for or bolster the victim's testimony. This Court in *Kromah* explained: "Our courts have previously held that '[t]he assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury,' and that witnesses generally are 'not allowed to testify whether another witness is telling the truth.'" *Kromah*, 401 S.C. at 358, 737 S.E.2d at 500 (quoting *State v. McKerlev*, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012)). The expert in Petitioner's case testified extensively to observed behaviors, testimony specifically allowed under *Kromah*. *Kromah*, 401 S.C. at 360, 737 S.E.2d at 500

(allowing witness to testify to "any personal observations regarding the child's behavior or demeanor"). At no time did Roseborough indicate the child was telling the truth regarding her victimization at the hand of Petitioner. Accordingly, the trial court properly admitted the testimony as it did not vouch for or impermissibly bolster the victim's testimony.

In conclusion, because Petitioner failed to show his underlying claim is meritorious and would have resulted in reversal had it been preserved for appeal, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to establish prejudice under *Strickland*. The PCR court also properly found that Petitioner failed to show Trial Counsel's failure to preserve the issues for appeal was constitutionally deficient because Trial Counsel articulated a valid trial strategy explaining why she did not act to preserve the issues. There is ample evidence of probative value to support these findings, which are not controlled by any error of law. Accordingly, these findings should be upheld and this Court should deny certiorari.

II. The PCR judge properly found Appellate Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue of Trial Counsel's objection to the State's expert not being qualified to diagnose the alleged victim with post-traumatic stress disorder on appeal because Appellate Counsel used reasonable professional judgment in choosing the strongest, meritorious issues to raise on Petitioner's behalf, and even had the issue been raised, it would not have changed the outcome of Petitioner's appeal.

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